

IN MEMORIAM.

The Rev. JAMES JOSEPH BURROW, B.A., Oxford, ordained in 1870, was formerly Inspector of Schools for the diocese of Carlisle, and vicar of Ireby for 37 years. He joined our Society in 1880, and died on May 15th, 1914.

Mr. JAMES CANHAM COWPER, J.P., of Keenground, Hawkshead, who died on May 19th, 1914, in his 83rd year, had been a member of our Society from 1888.

Councillor THEOBALD FITZWALTER BUTLER, J.P., D.L., of Infield, Barrow-in-Furness, a member since 1906, died on June 20th, 1914, in his 69th year. The son of a landowner and magistrate in co. Clare he came to Barrow in 1870, and took a high place in the business life and public work of the town, from which he accepted the honour of five years of mayoralty.

The Rev. JOHN HENRY HEYWOOD, M.A., Oxford, rector of Ulverston, died June 20th, 1914, at the age of 45 years. He had been curate at Corbridge-on-Tyne and Jesmond, vicar of Walton-on-the-Naze, and from 1903 to 1909 rector of Grasmere. He was a prominent Freemason, and joined our Society in 1911.

Mr. GEORGE BROWNE, of Troutbeck, died September 7th, 1914, aged nearly eighty. Representing a family resident for 300 years near Windermere, he was born in 1834, and had lived for 76 years at the interesting old house of Town End, Troutbeck, where his collection of MSS. (described in the Historical MSS. Commission's Report, x., App. iv., 347-358) was well known. He joined our Society in 1878 and contributed to these *Transactions* papers on "Troutbeck Church" (o.s., iv., Art. V.), "The Advowson and Rectors of Windermere" (n.s., ix., Art. IV.), and documents of 1535, 1614 and 1675 relating to Windermere (n.s., xiii., Art. XV.). Further references to Mr. Browne are n.s., iv., 214; vii., 145; viii., 144-185. He was at one time a member of committee of the Royal Agricultural Show; School manager for Troutbeck during 47 years; member of the Board of Guardians for 50 years,

and member of the Rural District Council for South Westmorland. He was skilled in gardening and wood-carving, but will be remembered above all as the local antiquary of Troutbeck.

Mr. ANTHONY MOORHOUSE, of Kirkby Lonsdale, died September 26th, 1914, in his 63rd year. In business a plumber, he had varied interests and untiring energy as a volunteer, a performer in the local brass band, a bowler, a student of natural history, and especially as an observer of the antiquities of his neighbourhood. In this last capacity he gave valuable—and not always acknowledged—help to many; to our Society, which he joined in 1904, he contributed papers in these *Transactions* on “Stone Implements” (N.S., vii., Art. VI.), “Finds in Whittington Parish” (N.S., xi., Art. XXII.), and notes on Roman pottery from Watercrock (N.S., vii., 311) and on stone implements, etc. (N.S., xii., 431-2). In 1904 he exhibited a number of relics at our June and September meetings, and in 1911 the Kirkby Lonsdale excursion owed its success to his work on the Local Committee. The exploration of the British Settlement at Leck, projected by him, was only abandoned on account of his subsequent illness, from which he never fully recovered.

The Rev. JOSEPH CHAPELHOW, D.D., died October 1914, one of our oldest members, having been elected in 1874. Ordained deacon 1869, and priest 1871, he held curacies at Great Musgrave, Penrith and Kirkby Stephen; he was rector of Kirkbampton 1879-96, then rector of Great Musgrave, and finally rector of Kirkandrews-on-Eden from 1897 until his death.

The Rev. ALBERT WARREN, M.A., of Caius Coll., Cambridge, vicar of St. Michael's, Appleby, died January 30th, 1915, aged 68. Formerly vicar of St. John's, Barrow, he was appointed to St. Michael's in 1880, and when our Society visited the Church in 1908 he contributed a paper upon it (these *Transactions*, N.S., ix., 324-5). He became a member of our Society in 1911. He also wrote notes on local history in his Parish Magazine, and one of his last acts was to procure the rubbing of the Roman stone at Hangingshaw from which Professor Haverfield deciphered the inscription as given above, in Art. IX. of this volume.

Mr. CHARLES WILLIAM DYMOND died February 7th, 1915, aged 82 years. By profession a civil engineer, and at one time chief engineer on the Bristol and Exeter Railway, after retirement he devoted much of his time to antiquarian work, becoming famous

for his thorough exploration of Worlebury, near Weston-super-Mare. His connection by marriage with the Lake district brought him into touch with our Society long before he finally joined us in 1894, as the list of his contributions to these *Transactions* shows :—

- o.s., iv., 537, " Gunnerkeld Stone Circle."
- v., 39, " A Group of Cumberland Megaliths."
- xi., 187, " Mayburgh and King Arthur's Round Table."
- xii., 1, " An Ancient Village near Yanwath."
- xii., 6, " An Ancient Village in Hugill."
- xii., 179, " Barnscar."
- xii., 375, " The Roman Fort at Hardknott."
- xiv., 460 (with Mr. H. S. Cowper), " Notes on an Ancient Village in Hugill."
- xv., 309, " The Ancient Village near Threlkeld."
- n.s., i, 303, " Supplementary notes on Hardknott."
- ii., 38 (with Mr. T. H. Hodgson), " An Ancient Village near Threlkeld."
- ii., 53 (with Mr. W. G. Collingwood), " An Exploration of Sunken Kirk, Swinside, Cumberland."
- iii., 354, " Note on Sunkenkirk."
- xiv., 490, " Note on an alleged letter of Quintus Cicero on Stonehenge."

The plans accompanying Mr. Dymond's papers, most carefully surveyed and elaborately drawn, have added greatly to their value : and in 1913 he was elected an Honorary Member in consideration of services rendered in exploration, surveying and description of antiquities in our district. In other societies his work was also well known. Elected F.S.A. in 1879, he published in the *Proc. Soc. Ant. Lond.*, xv., 372, a paper on " The Megalithic Antiquities of Stanton Drew " ; and wrote various articles in the " Antiquary," often in contravention of the astronomical theory of megalithic monuments. In 1890 he was elected Honorary Member of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, and he was also a member of the Prehistoric Society of France. In later years he studied Celtic antiquities and learnt Welsh ; the Eisteddfod gave him the degree of Bard. In the teaching and work of the Society of Friends, of which he was a member, he took active interest, and at home in Sawrey he was not too much of a *savant* to be Chairman of the Claife Parish Council. His last published work (1907) was the memoir, with letters and poems, of his relative Jonathan Dymond, illustrated with drawings from his own pencil.

Mr. WILLIAM LONG, J.P., of Thelwall Heys, near Warrington, who died on February 13th, 1915, was born at Manchester in 1834 and was connected in business and by many public and philanthropic interests with Warrington. He adopted our district by residence at Windermere, first at Belfield and for the past 16 years at Cleabarrow, and was a member of our Society from 1902.

The Venerable W. SHERWEN, M.A. of Oxford, rector of Dean and Archdeacon of Westmorland, died March 1st, 1915, in his 84th year, an original member of our Society. To these *Transactions* he contributed a paper on "The Registers of the Parish of Dean" (o.s., iv., Art. XII.).

Mr. T. NEWBY-WILSON, of the Landing, Windermere, J.P., died March 4th, 1915, aged 75, at Ambleside. He rebuilt Finsthwaite church in 1874, and erected the Jubilee Institute in the village; he was a widely-known benefactor in his district, a patron of the Grasmere Sports and of Windermere yachting, and had been a member of our Society since 1889.

Mr. HUBERT JAMES AUSTIN, of Lancaster and Heversham, the celebrated architect of the firm of Austin and Paley, died March 22nd, 1915, in his 74th year. Educated at Richmond School, he studied first with his brother at Newcastle and after 1864 with Sir Gilbert Scott. In 1867 he entered into partnership with Mr. E. G. Paley of Lancaster and thenceforward became famous as a builder and restorer of churches, especially throughout the north of England, and as the architect of many public buildings. He joined our Society in 1903, and in 1911 contributed a paper on Lancaster Parish Church (these *Transactions*, n.s., xii., 418-421), at which he made important discoveries during restoration.

Mr. GEORGE LOMAX TOPPING of Fothergill House, Shap, J.P., died March 23rd, 1915, in his 83rd year. He was a member of our Society since 1897, at one time often among us, and active in the administration, the church life and philanthropy of his district, in which he was a large landowner.

Mr. ROBERT ROBINSON, C.E., of Beechwood, Darlington, was born at Cartmel in 1838, and joined our Society in 1905. He died on March 28th, 1915.